Ecological integrity of tropical secondary forests: concepts and indicators

Milena F. Rosenfield<sup>1†,\*</sup>, Catarina C. Jakovac<sup>2,3†</sup>, Daniel L. M. Vieira<sup>4</sup>, Lourens Poorter<sup>2</sup>, Pedro H. S. Brancalion<sup>5</sup>, Ima C. G. Vieira<sup>6</sup>, Danilo R. A. de Almeida<sup>5</sup>, Paulo Massoca<sup>7</sup>, Juliana Schietti<sup>8</sup>, Ana Luisa M. Albernaz<sup>9</sup>, Marciel J. Ferreira<sup>10</sup> and Rita C. G. Mesquita<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia (INPA), Av. André Araújo, 2936, Manaus, AM, 69083-000, Brazil

<sup>2</sup> Forest Ecology and Forest Management Group, Wageningen University & Research, PO Box 47, 6700 AA, Wageningen, The Netherlands <sup>3</sup>Centro de Ciências Agrárias, Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina (UFSC), Rod. Admar Gonzaga, 1346, Itacorubi, Florianópolis, SC,

88034-000, Brazil

<sup>4</sup>Embrapa Recursos Genéticos e Biotecnologia, Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária (Embrapa), Av. W5 Norte (final), Brasília, DF, 70770917, Brazil

<sup>5</sup>Departamento de Ciências Florestais, Escola Superior de Agricultura Luiz de Queiroz (ESALQ), Universidade de São Paulo (USP), Av. Pádua Dias, 11, Piracicaba, SP, 13418-900, Brazil

<sup>6</sup>Coordenação de Botânica, Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi, Av. Magalhães Barata, 376, Belém, PA, 66040-170, Brazil

<sup>7</sup> Center for the Analysis of Social-Ecological Landscapes (CASEL), Indiana University, Student Building 331, 701 E. Kirkwood Avenue, Bloomington, IN, 47405, USA

<sup>8</sup>Departamento de Biologia, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal do Amazonas (UFAM), Av. General Rodrigo Octavio Jordão Ramos, 1200, Coroado I, Manaus, AM, 69067-005, Brazil

<sup>9</sup>Coordenação de Ciências da Terra e Ecologia, Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi, Av. Magalhães Barata, 376, Belém, PA, 66040-170, Brazil

<sup>10</sup>Departamento de Ciências Florestais, Universidade Federal do Amazonas (UFAM), Av. General Rodrigo Octávio Jordão Ramos, 3000, Manaus, AM, 69080-900, Brazil

## ABSTRACT

Naturally regenerating forests or secondary forests (SFs) are a promising strategy for restoring large expanses of tropical forests at low cost and with high environmental benefits. This expectation is supported by the high resilience of tropical forests after natural disturbances, yet this resilience can be severely reduced by human impacts. Assessing the characteristics of SFs and their ecological integrity (EI) is essential to evaluating their role for conservation, restoration, and provisioning of ecosystem services. In this study, we aim to propose a concept and indicators that allow the assessment and classification of the EI of SFs. To this end, we review the literature to assess how EI has been addressed in different ecosystems and which indicators of EI are most commonly used for tropical forests. Building upon this knowledge we propose a modification of the concept of EI to embrace SFs and suggest indicators of EI that can be applied to different successional stages or stand ages. Additionally, we relate these indicators to ecosystem service provision in order to support the practical application of the theory. EI is generally defined as the ability of ecosystems to support and maintain composition, structure and function similar to the reference conditions of an undisturbed ecosystem. This definition does not consider the temporal dynamics of recovering ecosystems, such as SFs. Therefore, we suggest incorporation of an optimal successional trajectory as a reference in addition to the old-growth forest reference. The optimal successional trajectory represents the maximum EI that can be attained at each successional stage in a given region and enables the evaluation of EI at any given age class. We further suggest a list of indicators, the main ones being: compositional indicators (species diversity/richness and indicator species); structural indicators (basal area, heterogeneity of basal area and canopy cover); function indicators (tree growth and mortality); and landscape proxies (landscape heterogeneity, landscape

662

Cambridge Philosophical Society

<sup>\*</sup> Author for correspondence (Tel.: (92) 3643-3377; E-mail: milenarosenfield@gmail.com).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Authors contributed equally to this work.

connectivity). Finally, we discuss how this approach can assist in defining the value of SF patches to provide ecosystem services, restore forests and contribute to ecosystem conservation.

Key words: natural regeneration, secondary succession, ecological restoration, tropical forests, indicators, monitoring, vegetation structure, resilience.

## CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	. 663
II.	Materials and methods	.664
III.	Literature review	.665
	(1) Concepts and main components of EI	665
	(2) Indicators and patterns across forest succession	666
IV.	Application of concepts and indicators to SFs	.667
	(1) Including successional forests in the concept of EI	667
	(2) Successional trends of indicators	669
	(3) Suggested indicators for assessing the EI of tropical SFs	670
V.	Ecological integrity, societal demands and implications for decision making	.670
VI.	Conclusions	.672
VII.	Acknowledgements	.672
VIII.	References	.672
IX.	Supporting information	.676

# I. INTRODUCTION

The Anthropocene is an era of unprecedented human impacts on the environment, where large extents of natural ecosystems have been converted and transformed (Hansen et al., 2013). The level of ecosystem transformation has historically been associated with their ecological integrity (EI; for definitions of key terms see Table 1) (Karr & Dudley, 1981; Karr, Larson & Chu, 2022), with undisturbed ecosystems having higher EI - and therefore higher conservation value - and recovering systems having lower EI. This view ignores the temporal dynamics of ecosystem recovery and the fact that a recovering ecosystem can be functioning perfectly well despite being (still) very different from the undisturbed ones. While the concept of EI has helped set priorities for the conservation of ecosystems, it fails to protect recovering systems that might importantly contribute to ecosystem functioning and biodiversity conservation at different scales. Adapting the concept to allow assessment of the EI of systems during the recovery process is of utmost importance for land-use planning and efficient implementation of biodiversity conservation and ecosystem restoration in the Anthropocene.

Tropical forest regrowth covers approximately 600 million hectares (Pan *et al.*, 2011) and plays a crucial role in biodiversity conservation and ecosystem service provision in humanmodified landscapes (Chazdon, 2014; Matos *et al.*, 2020). Under optimal conditions, successional or secondary forests (SFs) that regrow naturally after the abandonment of pasture and agricultural lands can attain many similar characteristics to mature forests within a few decades to centuries (Poorter *et al.*, 2021). These SFs can harbour a high diversity of plants and animals (Chazdon *et al.*, 2009), including many species useful to people (Toledo & Salick, 2006; Junqueira, Shepard Jr. & Clement, 2010), connect forest fragments (Arroyo-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2017), sequester large amounts of carbon (Pan *et al.*, 2007; Poorter *et al.*, 2016) and conserve floristic distinctiveness of biomes (Jakovac *et al.*, 2022). Under limiting conditions, however, succession can be arrested, and fail to restore ecosystem functions fully (Arroyo-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2017). Differentiating these different ecological conditions along the stages of succession, i.e. before its full recovery, is essential for identifying the conservation and restoration value of SF patches and the need for management to accelerate recovery.

Decades of studies on tropical forest succession have identified how natural and anthropogenic drivers affect the capacity of forests to regenerate. Drivers operating at different spatial scales importantly affect the capacity of forests to regenerate and to return to levels similar to their original state, through their influence on species availability and performance (Pickett, Collins & Armesto, 1987). At the regional scale, climate and soil properties define productivity levels and functional characteristics that shape the divergent rates of recovery of different forest types (Poorter et al., 2016; Rozendaal et al., 2019). At the landscape scale, forest cover and configuration determine forest connectivity and consequently the availability of seeds and biotic dispersal agents (Robiglio & Sinclair, 2011; Arroyo-Rodríguez et al., 2017). At the local scale, previous and current land use determine local soil quality and in situ propagule availability such as seeds, stumps, or sprouts (Mesquita et al., 2001; Gehring, Denich & Vlek, 2005; Jakovac et al., 2021). SFs that regrow in fragmented landscapes and on sites with an intensive land-use history have a limited capacity to restore ecosystem functioning, reduced recovery rates of vegetation structure

Term	Definition
Component (of EI)	Main group of elements that define the integrity of an ecosystem (composition, structure and function).
Ecological integrity (EI)	The capacity of a system to support and maintain a balanced, integrated, adaptive community of organisms with a species composition, diversity, and functional organization comparable to that of natural habitat of the region.
Ecological resilience	Ability of ecosystems to absorb changes of state variables and reorganize or adapt to multiple ecosystem equilibrium states.
Ecosystem attributes	Characteristics of an ecosystem that can be identified and potentially measured.
Ecosystem functioning	The outcome of a set of processes and ecological functions determined from biotic and abiotic interactions.
Ecosystem health	Specific types and rates of ecological processes and arrangement of structural elements that characterize diverse and productive ecosystems.
Ecosystem services	The benefits that people obtain from ecosystems (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005) or the
	contributions of ecosystem structure and function (in combination with other inputs) to human well-being (Burkhard & Maes, 2017).
Indicator	Ecosystem attribute or measure of environmentally relevant phenomena used to depict or evaluate ecosystem conditions and their changes or to set environmental goals (Heink & Kowarik, 2010; Prach <i>et al.</i> , 2019). A good indicator is easy to measure, is sensitive to stresses and has a known response to natural and anthropogenic disturbances and changes over time (Dale & Beyeler, 2001).
Mature reference state	Historical natural characteristics from an undisturbed ecosystem or an ecosystem in an advanced stage of succession.
Old-growth forest	A forest ecosystem that has grown for a long period of time (usually over 100 years old) and that harbours historically known characteristics associated with biodiversity and ecosystem functioning.
Resilience	See Ecological resilience.
Secondary forest (SF)	Regenerating forests growing after disturbances such as logging or complete land clearance of the original forest, usually on abandoned pastures or agricultural fields. SFs can originate from fully natural regeneration, assisted regeneration or active planting.
Succession (secondary succession)	Process of recovery of natural ecosystems following natural or anthropogenic disturbance events.

Table 1. Terminology and definitions used in this study.

and diversity, and show altered species compositions (Styger *et al.*, 2007; Jakovac *et al.*, 2015; Mesquita *et al.*, 2015; Pinho *et al.*, 2018; César *et al.*, 2021; Heinrich *et al.*, 2021). Within a given forest type and region, therefore, the level of anthropogenic impact at the landscape and local levels ultimately determines the ecological condition of SFs and their capacity to recover ecosystem functioning fully.

We lack, however, a theoretical basis that allows classification of the ecological condition of SF patches during the recovery process, i.e. at different ages after abandonment. Current concepts of ecological condition, such as EI (Karr & Dudley, 1981; Karr et al., 2022), use reference systems that can be decades away from early recovering forests, making reasonable comparisons difficult. Forest restoration assessments use average values from naturally regenerating forests as references for monitoring restoration success, ignoring that natural succession can be arrested. Setting intermediate benchmarks over time (Balaguer et al., 2014) that reflect an optimal successional trajectory could facilitate the assessment of ecosystem recovery at different successional stages. Setting such benchmarks over the successional process requires recognizing the variation in successional pathways. Additionally, ecosystem attributes show different trajectories over time and different rates of recovery (Poorter et al., 2021), potentially requiring different indicators for each successional level. The accumulated knowledge on the limiting conditions for succession and the drivers of multiple successional pathways can support the design of a concept and indicators

that allow assessing and classifying the EI of different successional stages or stand age.

Herein we review the literature to understand how EI has been assessed in different ecosystems, and which EI indicators are commonly used for tropical forests. Specifically, we: (i) modify the concept of EI so that it embraces temporal dynamics and is applicable to SFs; (ii) identify a list of indicators that can be used to evaluate the EI of SFs; and (iii) associate indicators of EI to the provision of ecosystem services, in order to connect the theoretical concept with its societal relevance. This study synthesizes the literature to promote a theoretical basis for identifying and classifying the ecological condition of SFs, allowing for better land-use planning, and the implementation and monitoring of conservation and restoration initiatives. Eventually, this will help in achieving the ambitious climate-change mitigation goals (e.g. Bonn Challenge, Paris Agreement, and Trillion Trees programs; Brancalion & Holl, 2020) as well as efficiently implementing the targets for the UN Decade on Ecosystem Restoration.

### **II. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

To identify the main concepts and indicators associated with EI, we conducted two separate literature searches in *Web of Science*. The first search aimed to identify and describe the concepts and main ecological components of EI, as applied

to any ecosystem type (e.g. aquatic or terrestrial systems). The aim of this search was to obtain as broad an input as possible, to define a concept of EI that is relevant to (secondary) forests. The second search aimed to identify indicators that are specifically used to evaluate EI of forest systems.

The search string used for search #1 was: TITLE = ('ecological integrity' OR 'ecological quality' OR 'ecological health' OR 'ecological resilience' OR 'biotic integrity' OR 'biotic quality' OR 'biotic health' OR 'biotic resilience' OR 'ecosystem integrity' OR 'ecosystem quality' OR 'ecosystem health' OR 'ecosystem resilience' OR 'forest integrity' OR 'forest quality' OR 'forest health' OR 'forest resilience'). We thus searched using the most common concepts used to describe and assess some sort of ecological quality of ecosystems in order to identify a concept that was most likely to embrace SFs. We included combinations of the words health, quality and resilience as they may be used in the literature with a similar meaning to integrity. We restricted our search to review articles from environmental disciplines (Environmental science, Biodiversity conservation, Ecology, Forestry, Remote sensing, Geosciences multidisciplinary, Environmental studies, Physical Geography, Multidisciplinary sciences, Plant sciences, and Biology). This first search returned a total of 112 articles. We first screened the title and abstract from these articles, identifying if the main objective of the study revolved around concepts and/or indicators of EI in native ecosystems. This screening reduced the number of relevant articles to 50, which were then assessed by reading the main text to identify the concepts of EI used, and whether they represented a new concept or a citation of an older reference. We excluded nine articles that did not explicitly indicate the concept they were using, resulting in a total of 41 articles (Table S1). Additionally, we assessed the original studies cited within the compiled references if they were not located by our search and included these articles ( $\mathcal{N} = 6$ ; Table S1) and concepts in our final results. This search enabled us to identify not only the concepts associated with EI, but also the main components used to describe it.

For search #2, we focused on the indicators used to evaluate EI in forest ecosystems. This search was not constrained by methodology (search #1 was restricted to review articles), so it included original research studies using field data, modelling or remote-sensing approaches, as well as review articles. We used the same search string as above, with the additional terms: AND TOPIC = (forest\*) AND (indicator\* OR metric\*). This search was restricted to the same environmental disciplines listed above and returned a total of 140 articles. We performed an initial screening to remove studies focused on aquatic systems (e.g. mangrove, stream and wetland studies), non-forest native ecosystems (e.g. coastal vegetation, grassland or savanna, and urban forest), species or organism characteristics (i.e. not addressing EI directly, and studies that focused only on the effect of air pollutants and pathogens on tree health) and studies that did not clearly present a list of indicators. We also removed two studies that were not available for download. This resulted in a final total of 72 articles (Table S2). From each article, we extracted information on the study sites (region, history of disturbance), the indicators used to evaluate EI (indicator name and metric, and associated component of EI) and finally, the ecosystem services associated with each indicator (Table S3) as indicators of EI could be used to assess ecosystem services. For the most frequent indicators that resulted from our screening, we assessed, based on expert knowledge, the quality of its association with ecosystem services: categorized as good, fair or no direct association.

We assessed the suitability of these indicators to evaluate the EI of SFs based on the following main evaluation criteria: (i) its behaviour is known in different forest types and across successional trajectories; (ii) it is easy to measure, monitor and understand; and (iii) it can be used at different spatial scales (patch or landscape level). For our analysis we further subdivided these into five evaluation criteria, we: (i) used the most frequent indicators that resulted from our screening, which are those more commonly used and known to assess patterns and processes in ecological studies, and determined in which successional stage they most efficiently indicated variations in EI (early, intermediate or late); (ii) classified indicators according to sampling complexity (easy - rapid assessment; medium - requires some specific knowledge; or hard – complex indicator requiring specialized equipment); (iii) classified indicators according to sampling frequency required (single or multiple); (iv) classified indicators by main methodological approach required (field based, remote sensing, other); and (v) classified indicators according to the spatial scale assessed [local plot (patch) or landscape level]. See Table S3 and Appendix S1 for the full list of information extracted from articles. Based on this classification scheme and on our expertise, we thus identified and classified the indicators both in terms of usefulness to assess overall EI of SFs and on cost-effectiveness and applicability for ecological assessments and monitoring. We focus on individual metrics instead of compound indices comprising multiple indicators because individual indicators (i) are easier to interpret and to implement by a wide range of technicians, (ii) allow for the identification of management practices required to improve the EI of successional forests (whereas a compound index would require de-composing to interpret which metric is most influential), and because (iii) the suitability of indicators might change with successional age.

# III. LITERATURE REVIEW

#### (1) Concepts and main components of EI

Among the 47 articles assessed for search #1, three main concepts were presented: ecological or biotic integrity, ecological resilience, and ecosystem or forest health. EI was first defined by Karr & Dudley (1981, p. 56), as '[...] the capacity of supporting and maintaining a balanced, integrated, adaptive community of organisms having a species composition, diversity, and functional organization comparable to that of natural habitat of the region. [...] A system possessing integrity can withstand, and recover from most perturbations imposed by natural environmental processes, as well as many major disruptions induced by man'. This concept was initially proposed to monitor aquatic systems, mainly with regard to water quality goals for human use (Karr & Dudley, 1981). It was later adapted by Parrish, Braun & Unnasch (2003, p. 852), as 'the ability of an ecological system to support and maintain a community of organisms that has species composition, diversity, and functional organization comparable to those of natural habitats within a region. An ecological system or species has integrity or is viable when its dominant ecological characteristics (e.g., elements of composition, structure, function, and ecological processes) occur within their natural ranges of variation and can withstand and recover from most perturbations imposed by natural environmental dynamics or human disruptions'. Andreasen et al. (2001), who developed a terrestrial index of EI, and Tierney et al. (2009), who addressed the monitoring and evaluation of EI of forest ecosystems, are often incorrectly cited as the source of the concept, with the concepts they use being the ones proposed by Karr & Dudley (1981) and Parrish et al. (2003) as described above. For a detailed history of the concept of EI, its terms and usage, see Wurtzebach & Schultz (2016) and Roche & Campagne (2017).

Ecological resilience is implicitly included in the concepts discussed above, but it has often been used separately in the ecological literature. Holling (1973, p. 17) first defined ecological resilience as 'resilience determines the persistence of relationships within a system and is a measure of the ability of these systems to absorb changes of state variables, driving variables, and parameters, and still persist'. Holling (1973) characterized stability as persistence of a system near or close to an equilibrium state and resilience as the amount of disturbance that a system can absorb without changing its state. More recently, Gunderson (2000) presented a review of ecological resilience theory and application, and proposed that no single mechanism can guarantee the maintenance of resilience. When a system experiences shifts into an undesirable state, a diversity of ecological processes allows the system to reorganize itself and return to a desirable state or to reorganize and adapt to the alternative condition.

Ecosystem health and forest health concepts correspond to different notions of the status of ecosystems. The use of the word 'health' comes from a human-centred utilitarian/ instrumental perspective and was initially associated with organism-level measurements, e.g. tree health (Kolb, Wagner & Covington, 1994; Ferretti, 1997). The term 'health' can be used as a bridge between scientists and nonscientists regarding the values of ecosystems (Kolb et al., 1994). Rapport (1989) and Costanza (1992) initially suggested approaches to characterize and measure the health of nature. In an ecosystem perspective, Kolb et al. (1994, p. 12) found great difficulty in applying the concept of health to such complex systems as forests, and suggested that a definition should include 'specific types and rates of ecological processes, and numbers and arrangement of structural elements that characterize diverse, productive, forest ecosystems in major biogeographic regions'. Kolb et al. (1994, p. 12) also listed four essential elements in their definition of forest ecosystem health: '(1) physical and biotic resources to support forest cover; (2) resistance to catastrophic

change and/or ability to recover after catastrophe; (3) functional equilibrium between supply and demand of essential resources; and (4) diversity of seral stages and stand structures'.

Regardless of the wording, all concepts presented above have similarities regarding the most important components that characterize EI, which include native species, structural and physical characteristics, ecosystem functioning and ability to recover after disturbance. Following the main components of EI proposed by Karr & Dudley (1981) and Parrish et al. (2003), which divided EI into composition, structure, and function, and the concepts of health discussed above, we further subdivide these three components into separate categories applicable to forest ecosystems (Table 2): (i) Composition has a single category – Biological diversity; (*ii*) Structure is subdivided into two categories - Vegetation structure, and Landscape structure and composition; and (iii) Function has three categories - Physical or environmental condition, Ecosystem functioning, and Resilience (see Table 1 for definitions). This enabled us to accommodate these concepts more explicitly and to classify indicators accordingly, encompassing different aspects of the integrity of natural ecosystems. These different categories encompass different spatial scales, from landscape-level attributes setting the landscape matrix context (landscape structure and composition) to patch conditions (biological diversity and vegetation structure), which together determine ecosystem functioning and resilience.

## (2) Indicators and patterns across forest succession

Indicators are measurable characteristics of the ecosystem that are related to the ecosystem condition or state (Table 1). Indicators provide information on the current condition of an ecosystem and enable the evaluation of ecosystem development over time (Wurtzebach & Schultz, 2016). They can be used to assess levels of degradation of ecosystems and to identify the need for management interventions in order to achieve a specified goal. In the case of EI, indicators are related to composition, structure and function components. Good indicators should be concise and reflect changes in community and/or ecosystem attributes (Table 1), being able to be used by researchers and practitioners to monitor ecosystem recovery.

Based on our literature search, we found 58 indicators (Table 2; Appendix S2) and 33 indices (i.e. combinations of multiple indicators) used to evaluate forest EI (Table S4). For each group of indicators, we listed a number of indicator metrics (see Table S5 for full list) that were used in each study, either using field-based or remote-sensing approaches. Indices based on combinations of multiple metrics were used to evaluate broad ecosystem integrity (e.g. Ecological Resilience Index, Ecosystem Health Index, Index of Biotic Integrity; Table S4). From the full list of indicators, the 10 most frequently assessed indicators (Table 3) were related to composition (indicator species or group; species diversity or richness); structure (canopy cover and structure; herbaceous or shrub cover or abundance; landscape composition and

Main and (sub)components of EI	Associated indicators
Composition	
Biological diversity	Indicator species or group, phylogenetic traits, sapling and/or seedling composition, sapling and/or seedling diversity or richness, species composition, species composition dynamics, species distribution dynamics, species diversity or richness, species functional diversity, species functional traits or groups
Structure	
Vegetation structure	Canopy cover and structure, community structure (plant), habitat condition, herbaceous or shrub cover or abundance, sapling and/or seedling abundance, sapling and/or seedling condition and size, snag and coarse woody debris, stand age, surface reflectance indices, surface texture measures, tree abundance, tree crown attributes, tree size and biomass, vegetation cover
Landscape structure and composition	Anthropogenic pressure, habitat specialization, land-cover and land-use dynamics, landscape composition and heterogeneity, landscape connectivity and fragmentation, landscape diversity, patch abundance, patch size, topography
Function	
Physical or environmental condition	Chemical parameters of deposition, soil erosion, soil physical and/or chemical parameters, water regimes
Ecosystem functioning	Community health (animal), community structure dynamics, ecosystem service provision or monetary value, flower, fruit and seed attributes, growth and mortality, insect outbreak frequency or intensity, litter structure, productivity and carbon sequestration, recruitment, species functional traits or groups change, tree growth and mortality, trophic interactions, vegetation condition and damage, water-related processes (transpiration, water-use efficiency, etc.)
Resilience	Disturbance frequency or intensity, disturbance model, forest recovery rate, network resistance, productivity and carbon sequestration dynamics, resilience coefficient or score, trajectories of vegetation condition and damage

Table 2. Main components of ecological integrity (EI) (see Section III.1) and associated indicators (see Section III.2).

heterogeneity; landscape connectivity and fragmentation; tree size and biomass); and function (tree growth and mortality; vegetation condition and damage; soil physical and/or chemical parameters). Additionally, we indicate the quality of these indicators in terms of assessment of ecosystem services potentially provided by forests (Table 3).

# IV. APPLICATION OF CONCEPTS AND INDICATORS TO SFS

# (1) Including successional forests in the concept of EI

The EI concepts (described above) use a desirable state as a reference (Andreasen et al., 2001; Wurtzebach & Schultz, 2016), which is usually a non-disturbed state, such as an old-growth forest located within the same region. This desirable state is often described through the natural range of values of multiple indicators. This assumes that the reference ecosystem holds the highest EI and the more similar a system is to its undisturbed original condition, the higher is its EI. This definition fails to incorporate changes in state condition during the process of forest regeneration, and consequently assumes that EI is directly dependent on the time since recovery started, i.e. the age of the SF. To acknowledge the successional dynamics, intermediate reference states should be considered, in addition to the undisturbed state, to represent the optimal successional trajectory. Our approach is very similar to that used in monitoring children's health:

although there is a need to know the physical and mental conditions they must achieve by adulthood, it is more important to assess health across a trajectory of development and growth.

We modified the definition from Parrish *et al.* (2003) to allow it to be applied to and operationalized for SFs. Thus, we describe EI as 'the ability of an ecological system to support and maintain a community of organisms that has species composition, diversity, and functional organization comparable to those of natural habitats within a region and at a given age class. An ecological system has integrity when its dominant ecological characteristics/indicators (e.g. elements of composition, structure, and function) occur within an optimal natural range for that specific age class (i.e. time since succession started) and can withstand and recover from most perturbations imposed by natural environmental dynamics or human disruptions'. This means that SFs following successional trajectories under optimal conditions can serve as a reference for the maximum EI possibly attained at each successional stage (or age class) in a given region and forest type. Optimal conditions imply minimum limitations for successional processes, i.e. high species availability and favourable conditions for species performance. Such optimal conditions for forest succession can be found in forest gaps and in transformed landscapes with a land-use history of low intensity, duration and frequency and with a high forest cover (Fig. 1).

To make this concept operational, we propose that reference values of indicators are retrieved from two reference systems: an undisturbed or mature reference state (as historically used for EI) and an optimal successional

Table 3. The 10 most frequently assessed indicators of forest ecological integrity used in the literature and their associations with eight different ecosystem services. The number of papers that assessed each indicator is shown in parentheses. Bullet points indicate whether the indicator is categorized as good ( $\bullet$ ) or fair ( $\circ$ ) in assessing ecosystem services; cells without bullet points indicate no direct association.

Indicator name	Climate regulation	Soil conservation	Pollination or pest control	Air quality or water regulation	Biodiversity conservation	Habitat integrity	Provision: wild fruits and seeds	Cultural services
Composition Species diversity or richness (24)					•			
Indicator species or group (21)			0		•	0	0	0
Structure								
Tree size and biomass (22)	•			0		•	0	0
Landscape connectivity and fragmentation (16)			0		o	0		
Canopy cover and structure (13)	•			0		0		
Herbaceous or shrub cover or abundance (13)	0	0			0	0		
Landscape composition and heterogeneity (11)	o	0		0		•		
(11) Function								
Tree growth and mortality (14)	•							
Vegetation condition and damage (13) Soil physical and/or chemical	0	•						
parameters (11)								

trajectory. For the mature reference, a range of values must be identified that embrace the spatio-temporal variation in the absolute values of indicators found in old-growth forests or, in their absence, in forests in advanced stages of succession located in the same biogeographic region. For the optimal successional trajectory, values of indicators should be retrieved for different age classes or successional stages along trajectories under minimum limitations to succession. While limitations to succession reduce the EI of SFs, restoration and management practices have the potential to foster succession and improve the EI of SF patches (Fig. 1). The optimal successional trajectory can be expressed as absolute values (e.g. biomass values of 100 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> at 20 years) or as proportions relative to the old-growth forests in the region (e.g. early successional forests will show 10-20% of the value found in mature forests located in the region). Deviations from the natural range of values found in the optimal successional trajectory should be interpreted as a reduction or increase in EI (Fig. 1).

Building upon previously published EI concepts, we modify the concept of EI to add the temporal dynamics of SFs, allowing the assessment of EI across different successional stages. Previous studies have used mature forests and average values of naturally regenerating forests as references for monitoring forest restoration (e.g. Londe *et al.*, 2020), overlooking the large variation in successional pathways as a result of limitations to succession. Here we explicitly recognize the large variation in indicator values across successional trajectories and propose that an optimal successional trajectory should be used as a reference.

Operationalizing this reference of an optimal successional trajectory, however, can be challenging. Such reference systems may not exist in degraded landscapes or in entire regions that have an ancient history of intense anthropogenic transformation. To circumvent this limitation, modelling approaches using data from multiple landscapes could build scenarios of low anthropogenic impact to model optimal successional trajectories. Moreover, future studies should



**Fig. 1.** (A) Diagram illustrating the concept of ecological integrity (EI) applied to secondary forests (SFs). It shows the change in EI over time and across different successional trajectories (green bands) arising from clear-cut forests and highlighting the optimal successional trajectory (dark green band). Green bands with lighter colours represent trajectories with decreasing EI. We can assess early, intermediate or late successional stages based on increasing levels of EI across time (A). In the upper portion of the graph (grey band), we show the natural range of variation of EI that exists in mature reference forests (e.g. old-growth forests) that represent the potential maximum EI that a site can achieve. In (B), we show different successional trajectories that may arise due to limitations to succession or disturbances: (1) optimal successional trajectory; (2) temporal variations decreasing the recovery rate; (3) rapid initial development, but stabilization in a suboptimal condition; and (4) positive initial recovery, but future degradation resulting from a strong disturbance (e.g. pest outbreak or extreme drought).

investigate whether optimum successional trajectories can be characterized by the proportional values of indicators in relation to the old-growth forest and whether these can be applied across regions. Additionally, studies should provide decision-makers with maps or tables of regionalized reference values for both old-growth forests and optimum successional trajectories using either data-based or model-based approaches.

#### (2) Successional trends of indicators

The successional behaviour of most of these frequently used indicators of EI (Table 3) is well known, especially for vegetation attributes (Finegan, 1996). A recent meta-analysis across a range of climatic conditions (ca. 1200-2500 mm of annual rainfall) showed that recovery to 90% of old-growth values is fastest for soils (<1 decade) and plant functions (<2.5 decades), intermediate for vegetation structure and species diversity (2.5-6 decades), and slowest for biomass and species composition (>12 decades) (Poorter et al., 2021). Despite the large variation in successional pathways and rates of regrowth across landscapes (Norden et al., 2015), predictable general patterns have been described and are summarized below for the most frequently used indicators of EI (Table 3). Tropical forest successional stages, following optimal trajectories (Fig. 1, dark green band), are summarized following Finegan (1996) as: early stage characterized by the colonization of herbs, shrubs and pioneer tree species (0–10 years of regrowth), intermediate stages when pioneer trees dominate the canopy (10-30 years) and late stages when pioneers are replaced by late-successional species (>30 years).

Within the composition component, as succession proceeds there is an increase in species diversity and richness and a

replacement of indicator species and functional groups. Species richness recovers to 90% of old-growth forest values within 31 years on average while species composition can take more than 120 years or may never happen (Rozendaal et al., 2019). Increment in species richness is very steep at early to intermediate successional stages and slows down at late stages (Rozendaal et al., 2019). Overall successional changes in species composition are less predictable and can be extremely slow (Rozendaal et al., 2019; Poorter et al., 2021). Therefore, we recommend that changes in the presence and abundance of indicator species or specific groups of species are used in assessments of successional changes. The replacement of pioneer species by late-successional species happens at intermediate successional stages for adult trees (Finegan, 1996), as seedlings of late-successional species may be present from the early stages (Guariguata & Ostertag, 2001; Peña-Claros, 2003). SFs with lower EI will show slower species turnover and species richness, and higher dominance by certain indicator species and plant groups (Gehring et al., 2005; Styger et al., 2007; Jakovac et al., 2016). These can be observed at all successional stages by showing lower species richness, higher abundances of non-tree life forms such as ferns, grasses, bamboos, vines, and lianas, and higher dominance by certain indicator tree species, compared to the reference trajectory (Gehring et al., 2005; Styger et al., 2007; Letcher & Chazdon, 2009; Jakovac et al., 2016).

Within the structure component, during succession basal area and biomass accumulate and consequently canopy cover increases and herbaceous and shrub cover or abundance are reduced (Guariguata & Ostertag, 2001; Estrada-Villegas *et al.*, 2020). Total basal area tends to stabilize at intermediate successional stages while biomass and horizontal heterogeneity stabilizes at intermediate to late successional stages (Poorter et al., 2021). As a consequence of plant colonization and the increase in basal area, canopy cover sharply increases and then stabilizes within early successional stages. SFs with lower EI will have lower average tree size and a more homogeneous tree-size distribution, showing lower basal area, biomass and canopy height and lower heterogeneity in tree size [e.g. Gini index of basal area or diameter at breast height (dbh)], compared to optimum reference trajectories (Marin-Spiotta, Ostertag & Silver, 2007; Chazdon et al., 2010; Jakovac et al., 2015; Mesquita et al., 2015; Poorter et al., 2016; Rozendaal et al., 2019; Pérez-Cárdenas et al., 2021). Landscape attributes, another commonly used indicator of structure, are not directly associated with successional changes, but can be used as proxies for the conditions enabling succession in the landscape (Arroyo-Rodríguez et al., 2017; Jakovac et al., 2021), and therefore can be used as indirect indicators of EI across successional stages.

Within the function component, during succession rates of tree growth decrease (Norden et al., 2015) and mortality shows a hump-shaped relationship. Tree growth rates tend to be higher at early to intermediate stages of succession (Marin-Spiotta et al., 2007) due to the rapid growth rates of pioneer and early secondary species (Chazdon et al., 2010). Mortality rates tend to be higher at early to intermediate stages due to thinning and the mortality of same-aged pioneer species but are reduced at late stages (van Breugel, Martínez-Ramos & Bongers, 2006). Successional changes in soil conditions are less predictable, probably due to a dependence on geomorphological characteristics and the conditions left after land use (which can increase or decrease soil fertility, for example) (Powers & Marín-Spiotta, 2017). However, recent studies suggest that soil nitrogen, carbon stock and bulk density increase sharply and then stabilize within the early stages of succession (Poorter et al., 2021; van der Sande et al., 2023). SFs with lower EI will show slower dynamics and therefore lower rates of tree growth and mortality, and slower restoration of soil conditions, especially at early to intermediate stages of succession.

# (3) Suggested indicators for assessing the EI of tropical SFs

Based on the list of indicators used most frequently in the literature (Table 3) and our evaluation criteria [known behaviour across successional trajectories, ease of measurement (sampling complexity and sampling frequency), methodological approach and spatial scale] we present in Table 4 a list of indicators for use in assessments of the EI of SFs. With this list, researchers and practitioners can identify the combination of indicators that best match their objectives and resources.

To evaluate the EI of SFs, at least one indicator for each component of EI (composition, structure and function) should be used. Across a range of characteristics, such indicators can be easy to measure, for example requiring single measurements from field surveys and allowing assessments at local scale, or they can be harder to obtain, requiring multiple measurements and remote-sensing techniques, but allowing assessments at regional scales (Table 4). Remote-sensing approaches require technologies that may not be available for local institutions, but are essential for upscaling the classification and monitoring of SFs, usually of interest for national governments and research institutions. Field-based evaluations tend to require less-specific technology and therefore are more accessible to a wide range of professionals and institutions. Some field-based indicators, such as species diversity, however, require expertise in species identification, potentially restricting their application, particularly in biodiversity hotspots. The list of indicators and evaluation criteria presented in Table 4 thus will enable the selection of indicators that are most suitable for different aims, spatial and temporal scales and resource availability.

Based on this literature review and on expert knowledge, we suggest a combination of the following indicators of composition and structure for assessing the EI of SFs at a local scale: indicator species or species richness, canopy cover, basal area and heterogeneity of basal area (or dbh). These indicators are easy to measure in the field and their recovery is associated with the recovery of function components, such as soil properties and plant functional traits (Poorter et al., 2021). When using remote-sensing techniques, structure indicators can be assessed through metrics such as Leaf Area Index (LAI) and Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI), especially during early stages of succession (Table 4). For assessments of the EI of SFs at a regional scale, we suggest the inclusion of landscape structure indicators (e.g. landscape heterogeneity, landscape connectivity), which are known proxies for the capacity for recovery of composition, structure and function of SFs (Arroyo-Rodríguez et al., 2017; Jakovac et al., 2021).

It is important to highlight that reference values are required for two reference systems: a mature reference state and an optimal successional trajectory. The reference values of the optimal successional trajectory can be absolute values (and therefore region specific) or determined relative to the old-growth forest (and therefore comparable across regions). Future studies should try to identify relative values of indicators that can be used as an optimal successional trajectory in multiple regions. In addition, we suggest identifying indicator species and how patterns of species dominance change with EI and successional stages, as well as evaluating other indicators of function that are easier to assess in the field. Notably, some indicators will be more appropriate for generalization across regions (e.g. structure indicators) while others will be region specific (e.g. indicator species), therefore a combination of both may allow better characterization of EI given the heterogeneity of tropical plant communities.

## V. ECOLOGICAL INTEGRITY, SOCIETAL DEMANDS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR DECISION MAKING

Ecological integrity is a concept applied to individual SF patches through the characterization of their composition,

Table 4. Suggested indicators for use in assessments of the ecological integrity of tropical secondary forests and evaluation criteria used to classify each indicator: successional stage (• early, • intermediate, • late); sampling complexity (• easy, • medium, • hard); sampling frequency required (• single, • multiple); methodological approach (• field based, • remote sensing); and spatial scale (• local, • regional).

Indicator name	Indicator metrics suggested	Stage	Complexity	Frequency	Approach	Scale
Composition						
Species diversity or richness	Species diversity or richness	•••	••	•	•	•
Indicator species or group	Indicator species presence/abundance (e.g. successional groups, exotic species)	•••	•	•	•	•
Structure						
Tree size and biomass	Tree basal area (total)	• •	•	•	•	•
	Tree basal area variation (e.g. standard deviation or Gini index)	••	•	•	•	•
	Leaf Area Index (LAI)	• •	•	•	•	••
	Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI)	• •	•	•	•	••
Canopy cover and structure	Canopy cover (% ground cover)	•	•	•	••	••
Herbaceous or shrub cover or abundance	Ground vegetation cover (e.g. grass or light- demanding herbs)	• •	•	•	•	•
Landscape composition and heterogeneity	Landscape composition (land-use and land- cover types)	•••	•	•	•	•
Landscape connectivity and fragmentation	Landscape connectivity or fragmentation	•••	••	•	•	•
Function						
Tree growth and mortality	changes in tree abundance or basal area	• •	•	•	•	•
	Tree growth and mortality	•••	•••	•	• •	••
Vegetation condition and damage	Tree condition or damage (e.g. defoliation, damage to branches)	•••	••	•	••	••
Soil physical and/or chemical parameters	Soil organic matter, soil nitrogen content, bulk density	••	•	•	•	•

structure, and function, providing information on the conservation and restoration potential of individual SF patches. From a societal perspective, however, the relevance of a SF patch will depend on its socio-ecological context. Therefore, the decision-making process on the socio-ecological value (and fate) of SF patches depends on an evaluation that combines the actual EI of a SF patch, the potential of a SF patch to undergo succession (and increase its EI), its potential to contribute to the resilience of the landscape as a whole, and the societal demand for land use (e.g. agricultural production, demand for ecosystem services).

From a socio-ecological perspective (Vieira *et al.*, 2014; Balvanera *et al.*, 2021), the value of SF patches therefore will greatly depend on the conditions of the landscape in which they are found. For example, in a highly deforested and fragmented landscape, SF patches with high EI will have high value for conservation and restoration, also contributing to landscape connectivity. These SFs with high EI will harbour high levels of biodiversity, contribute to ecosystem functioning and provide several ecosystem services including goods for people (such as food and materials). In the same highly fragmented landscape, SF patches with low EI may not have a high value for conservation at the patch level, but might play an important role for landscape connectivity and soil protection given the impoverished conditions of the landscape. In this case, actively managing these low-EI patches (e.g. climber cutting, invasive species control, enrichment planting, exclusion of cattle grazing) could foster succession and consequently increase their EI and the provision of ecosystem goods and services, also contributing to increased resilience of the landscape. Enhancing natural regeneration through management practices soon after agricultural abandonment is an easier and cheaper way of increasing its EI compared to managing older SF patches (Rezende & Vieira, 2019; Vieira et al., 2021). Such low-EI SF patches could be managed for enhancing production through agroforestry, e.g. soil fertility or timber and non-timber production, and thereby contribute to the societal needs and goals for that specific landscape (Michon et al., 2007; Chazdon, 2008; Diemont et al., 2011; Heinrich et al., 2021).

Therefore, the classification of the EI of a SF patch is only one step in the decision tree for land-use planning and landscape restoration. It is important to consider the social, legal, economic and political factors that influence the governance of SFs (Vieira *et al.*, 2014). To facilitate such discussions, we highlight four properties that should be assessed in SF patches to support decision-making on land-use planning: (*i*) the current EI of the SF – the higher its EI, the higher will be its conservation value; (*ii*) current provision of ecosystem services and societal needs – a better match between ecosystem services provided and societal needs, the higher will be the value of preserving and/or managing that SF patch; (*iii*) the role of the SF patch in the functioning and resilience of the landscape; and (*iv*) the trade-offs and synergies with local and regional societal demands. The combination of these four aspects should be considered in decision making for land-use planning in order to determine whether to conserve, manage or convert SF patches.

## VI. CONCLUSIONS

(1) This study reviews the concept of EI and proposes adaptation of the concept to incorporate the temporal dynamics of recovering ecosystems such as SFs. We propose that the assessment of the EI of SFs uses two reference systems: a mature reference forest and an optimal successional trajectory. The mature forest is used to retrieve relative reference values, and the optimum successional trajectory serves as a reference for the maximum EI attainable at each age class or successional stage in a given region. The use of an optimal successional trajectory as a reference enables the evaluation of EI at any age class and successional stage.

(2) We provide a list of indicators that can be used to assess the EI of SF patches at different successional stages and associate them with the provision of ecosystem services. By detailing a list of indicators for assessing EI, we provide strategies for field and remote-sensing assessments and monitoring of forest recovery and restoration.

(3) Finally, we highlight that the socio-ecological value of SF patches extends beyond EI alone and might include the ecosystem services provided in their individual landscape contexts and for local societal demands and needs. SFs are seen variously as degraded forests by conservationists, as promising areas for forest restoration by restoration practitioners and researchers, as fallows by shifting cultivation farmers, and as an opportunity for agricultural intensification by agribusiness. Assessing the EI of SFs will help to identify their conservation value, and combined with a socio-ecological assessment will assist informed decisions on the fate of tropical SFs.

## VII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by CNPq through the Synthesis Center on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services - SinBiose (grant number 442371/2019-5). M. F. R. received a scholarship from CNPq (process #152421/2020-3). D. L. M. V. has a research grant from the CNPq (#303884/2019-3). L. P. was supported by the European Research Council Advanced

Grant PANTROP 834775. D. R. A. A. was supported by the São Paulo Research Foundation (#2018/21338-3). I. C. G. V. received a CNPq research productivity scholarship (#308778/2017-0). The São Paulo Research Foundation is acknowledged for financial support (#2018/18416-2).

### VIII. REFERENCES

- References identified with an asterisk (\*) are cited in Table S1 of the supporting information, while those identified with a dagger symbol (†) are cited within Table S2.
- †ALEXANDER, S. A. & PALMER, C. J. (1999). Forest health monitoring in the United States: first four years. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 55, 267–277.
- †ALEXANDRINO, E. R., BUECHLEY, E. R., KARR, J. R., DE BARROS FERRAZ, K. M. P. M., DE BARROS FERRAZ, S. F., DO COUTO, H. T. Z. & ŞEKERCIOĞLU, Ç. H. (2017). Bird based Index of Biotic Integrity: assessing the ecological condition of Atlantic Forest patches in human-modified landscape. *Ecological Indicators* 73, 662–675.
- ANDREASEN, J. K., O'NEILL, R. V., Noss, R. & SLOSSER, N. C. (2001). Considerations for the development of a terrestrial index of ecological integrity. *Ecological Indicators* 1, 21–35.
- †ARIANOUTSOU, M., KOUKOULAS, S. & KAZANIS, D. (2011). Evaluating post-fire forest resilience using GIS and multi-criteria analysis: an example from Cape Sounion National Park, Greece. *Environmental Management* 47, 384–397.
- †ARNOTT, J. C., OSENGA, E. C., CUNDIFF, J. L. & KATZENBERGER, J. W. (2015). Engaging stakeholders on forest health: a model for integrating climatic, ecological, and societal indicators at the watershed scale. *Journal of Forestry* **113**, 447–453.
- ARROYO-RODRÍGUEZ, V., MELO, F. P. L., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M., BONGERS, F., CHAZDON, R. L., MEAVE, J. A., NORDEN, N., SANTOS, B. A., LEAL, I. R. & TABARELLI, M. (2017). Multiple successional pathways in human-modified tropical landscapes: new insights from forest succession, forest fragmentation and landscape ecology research. *Biological Reviews* 92, 326–340.
- †ATAK, B. K. & TONYALOĞLU, E. E. (2020). Monitoring the spatiotemporal changes in regional ecosystem health: a case study in Izmir, Turkey. *Environmental Monitoring and* Assessment 192, 385.
- BALAGUER, L., ESCUDERO, A., MARTÍN-DUQUE, J. F., MOLA, I. & ARONSON, J. (2014). The historical reference in restoration ecology: re-defining a cornerstone concept. *Biological Conservation* 176, 12–20.
- BALVANERA, P., PAZ, H., ARREOLA-VILLA, F., BHASKAR, R., BONGERS, F., CORTÉS, S., DEL VAL, E., GARCÍA-FRAPOLLI, E., GAVITO, M. E., GONZÁLEZ-ESQUIVEL, C. E., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M., MARTÍNEZ-YRIZAR, A., MORA, F., NAIME, J., PASCUAL-RAMÍREZ, F., ET AL. (2021). Social ecological dynamics of tropical secondary forests. Forest Ecology and Management 496, 119369.
- \*BECK, M. W. & HATCH, L. K. (2009). A review of research on the development of lake indices of biotic integrity. *Environmental Reviews* 17, 21–44.
- †BECKER, D. A., WOOD, P. B., STRAGER, M. P. & MAZZARELLA, C. (2015). Impacts of mountaintop mining on terrestrial ecosystem integrity: identifying landscape thresholds for avian species in the central Appalachians, United States. *Landscape Ecology* **30**, 339–356.
- BRANCALION, P. H. S. & HOLL, K. D. (2020). Guidance for successful tree planting initiatives. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 57, 2349–2361.
- \*BROWN, E. D. & WILLIAMS, B. K. (2016). Ecological integrity assessment as a metric of biodiversity: are we measuring what we say we are? *Biodiversity and Conservation* 25, 1011–1035.
- BURKHARD, B. & MAES, J. (eds) (2017). Mapping Ecosystem Services. Advanced Books. https://doi.org/10.3897/ab.e12837
- †BUSING, R. T., LIEGEL, L. H. & LABAU, V. J. (1996). Overstory mortality as an indicator of forest health in California. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 42, 285–295.
- †CALE, J. A., KLUTSCH, J. G., ERBILGIN, N., NEGRÓN, J. F. & CASTELLO, J. D. (2016). Using structural sustainability for forest health monitoring and triage: case study of a mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*)-impacted landscape. *Ecological Indicators* 70, 451–459.
- †CAPMOURTERES, V. & ANAND, M. (2016). Assessing ecological integrity: a multi-scale structural and functional approach using Structural Equation Modeling. *Ecological Indicators* 71, 258–269.
- †CARDOSO, P., BORGES, P. A. V. & GASPAR, C. (2007). Biotic integrity of the arthropod communities in the natural forests of Azores. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 16, 2883–2901.
- \*†CARIGNAN, V. & VILLARD, M.-A. (2002). Selecting indicator species to monitor ecological integrity: a review. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 78, 45–61.

- CÉSAR, R. G., MORENO, V. D. S., COLETTA, G. D., SCHWEIZER, D., CHAZDON, R. L., BARLOW, J., FERRAZ, S. F. B., CROUZEILLES, R. & BRANCALION, P. H. S. (2021). It is not just about time: agricultural practices and surrounding forest cover affect secondary forest recovery in agricultural landscapes. *Biotropica* **53**, 496–508.
- \*CHAMBERS, J. C., ALLEN, C. R. & CUSHMAN, S. A. (2019). Operationalizing ecological resilience concepts for managing species and ecosystems at risk. *Frontiers* in *Ecology and Evolution* 7, 241.
- CHAZDON, R. L. (2008). Beyond deforestation: restoring forests and ecosystem services on degraded lands. *Science* **320**, 1458–1460.
- CHAZDON, R. L. (2014). Second Growth: The Promise of Tropical Forest Regeneration in an Age of Deforestation. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- CHAZDON, R. L., FINEGAN, B., CAPERS, R. S., SALGADO-NEGRET, B., CASANOVES, F., BOUKILI, V. & NORDEN, N. (2010). Composition and dynamics of functional groups of trees during tropical forest succession in northeastern Costa Rica. *Biotropica* 42, 31–40.
- CHAZDON, R. L., PERES, C. A., DENT, D., SHEIL, D., LUGO, A. E., LAMB, D., STORK, N. E. & MILLER, S. E. (2009). The potential for species conservation in tropical secondary forests. *Conservation Biology* 23, 1406–1417.
- \*COSTANZA, R. (1992). Toward an operational definition of ecosystem health. In Ecosystem Health: New Goals for Environmental Management (eds R. COSTANZA, B. G. NORTON and B. D. HASKELL). Island Press, Washington, DC.
- †COULSTON, J. W. & RIITTERS, K. H. (2003). Geographic analysis of forest health indicators using spatial scan statistics. *Environmental Management* 31, 764–773.
- \*CRAWFORD, D. W., BONNEVIE, N. L., GILLIS, C. A. & WENNING, R. J. (1994). Historical changes in the ecological health of the Newark Bay estuary, New Jersey. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 29, 276–303.
- \*CUMMING, G. S. & PETERSON, G. D. (2017). Unifying research on social-ecological resilience and collapse. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 32, 695–713.
- DALE, V. H. & BEYELER, S. C. (2001). Challenges in the development and use of ecological indicators. *Ecological Indicators* 1, 3–10.
- DIEMONT, S. A. W., BOHN, J. L., RAYOME, D. D., KELSEN, S. J. & CHENG, K. (2011). Comparisons of Mayan forest management, restoration, and conservation. *Forest Ecology and Management* 261, 1696–1705.
- \*DREVER, C. R., PETERSON, G., MESSIER, C., BERGERON, Y. & FLANNIGAN, M. (2006). Can forest management based on natural disturbances maintain ecological resilience? *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **36**, 2285–2299.
- †DREVER, M. C., AITKEN, K. E. H., NORRIS, A. R. & MARTIN, K. (2008). Woodpeckers as reliable indicators of bird richness, forest health and harvest. *Biological Conservation* 141, 624–634.
- †EGLI, S. (2011). Mycorrhizal mushroom diversity and productivity an indicator of forest health? Annals of Forest Science 68, 81–88.
- ESTRADA-VILLEGAS, S., BAILÓN, M., HALL, J. S., SCHNITZER, S. A., TURNER, B. L., CAUGHLIN, T. & BREUGEL, M. (2020). Edaphic factors and initial conditions influence successional trajectories of early regenerating tropical dry forests. *Journal* of Ecology 108, 160–174.
- \*†FERRETTI, M. (1997). Forest health assessment and monitoring issues for consideration. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* **48**, 45–72.
- FINEGAN, B. (1996). Pattern and process in neotropical secondary rain forests: the first 100 years of succession. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 11, 119–124.
- †FRASER, R. H., OLTHOF, I. & POULIOT, D. (2009). Monitoring land cover change and ecological integrity in Canada's national parks. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 113, 1397–1409.
- †FRAZIER, A. E., RENSCHLER, C. S. & MILES, S. B. (2013). Evaluating post-disaster ecosystem resilience using MODIS GPP data. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation* 21, 43–52.
- †FREGO, K. A. (2007). Bryophytes as potential indicators of forest integrity. Forest Ecology and Management 242, 65–75.
- †GALVANI, F. M., GRACIANO-SILVA, T. & CARDOSO-LEITE, E. (2020). Is biotic integrity of urban forests remants related with their size and shape? *Cerne* 26, 9–17.
- †GAZOL, A., CAMARERO, J. J., VICENTE-SERRANO, S. M., SÁNCHEZ-SALGUERO, R., GUTTÉRREZ, E., DE LUIS, M., SANGÜESA-BARREDA, G., NOVAK, K., ROZAS, V., TÍSCAR, P. A., LINARES, J. C., MARTÍN-HERNÁNDEZ, N., MARTÍNEZ DEL CASTILLO, E., RIBAS, M., GARCÍA-GONZÁLEZ, I., *et al.* (2018). FOrest resilience to drought varies across biomes. *Global Change Biology* 24, 2143–2158.
- GEHRING, C., DENICH, M. & VLEK, P. L. G. (2005). Resilience of secondary forest regrowth after slash-and-burn agriculture in central Amazonia. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 21, 519–527.
- †GLENNON, M. J. & PORTER, W. F. (2005). Effects of land use management on biotic integrity: an investigation of bird communities. *Biological Conservation* **126**, 499–511.
- \*GONZÁLEZ-QUINTERO, C. & AVILA-FOUCAT, V. S. (2019). Operationalization and measurement of social-ecological resilience: a systematic review. *Sustainability* 11, 6073.
- GUARIGUATA, M. R. & OSTERTAG, R. (2001). Neotropical secondary forest succession: changes in structural and functional characteristics. *Forest Ecology and Management* 148, 185–206.

- \*GUNDERSON, L. H. (2000). Ecological resilience in theory and application. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 31, 425–439.
- <sup>†</sup>HAN, R., GUO, L., XU, N. & WANG, D. (2019). The effect of the Grain for Green Program on ecosystem health in the upper reaches of the Yangtze river basin: a case study of Eastern Sichuan, China. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health 16, 2112.
- HANSEN, M. C., POTAPOV, P. V., MOORE, R., HANCHER, M., TURUBANOVA, S. A., TYUKAVINA, A., THAU, D., STEHMAN, S. V., GOETZ, S. J., LOVELAND, T. R., KOMMAREDDY, A., EGOROV, A., CHINI, L., JUSTICE, C. O. & TOWNSHEND, J. R. G. (2013). High-resolution global maps of 21st-century forest cover change. *Science* 342, 850–853.
- \*HECKMANN, K. E., MANLEY, P. N. & SCHLESINGER, M. D. (2008). Ecological integrity of remnant montane forests along an urban gradient in the Sierra Nevada. Forest Ecology and Management 255, 2453–2466.
- HEINK, U. & KOWARIK, I. (2010). What are indicators? On the definition of indicators in ecology and environmental planning. *Ecological Indicators* **10**, 584–593.
- HEINRICH, V. H. A., DALAGNOL, R., CASSOL, H. L. G., ROSAN, T. M., DE ALMEIDA, C. T., SILVA JUNIOR, C. H. L., CAMPANHARO, W. A., HOUSE, J. I., SITCH, S., HALES, T. C., ADAMI, M., ANDERSON, L. O. & ARAGAO, L. E. O. C. (2021). Large carbon sink potential of secondary forests in the Brazilian Amazon to mitigate climate change. *Nature Communications* 12, 1785.
- †HERNÁNDEZ-CLEMENTE, R., NORTH, P. R. J., HORNERO, A. & ZARCO-TEJADA, P. J. (2017). Assessing the effects of forest health on sun-induced chlorophyll fluorescence using the FluorFLIGHT 3-D radiative transfer model to account for forest structure. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **193**, 165–179.
- \*†HILTY, J. & MERENLENDER, A. (2000). Faunal indicator taxa selection for monitoring ecosystem health. *Biological Conservation* 92, 185–197.
- \*HOLLING, C. S. (1973). Resilience and stability of ecological systems. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 4, 1–23.
- \*†IBÁÑEZ, I., ACHARYA, K., JUNO, E., KAROUNOS, C., LEE, B. R., MCCOLLUM, C., SCHAFFER-MORRISON, S. & TOURVILLE, J. (2019). Forest resilience under global environmental change: do we have the information we need? A systematic review. *PLoS One* 14, 1–17.
- JAKOVAC, C. C., BONGERS, F., KUYPER, T. W., MESQUITA, R. C. G. & PEÑA-CLAROS, M. (2016). Land use as a filter for species composition in Amazonian secondary forests. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 27, 1104–1116.
- JAKOVAC, C. C., JUNQUEIRA, A. B., CROUZEILLES, R., PEÑA-CLAROS, M., MESQUITA, R. C. G. & BONGERS, F. (2021). The role of land-use history in driving successional pathways and its implications for the restoration of tropical forests. *Biological Reviews* 96, 1114–1134.
- JAKOVAC, C. C., MEAVE, J. A., BONGERS, F., LETCHER, S. G., DUPUY, J. M., PIOTTO, D., ROZENDAAL, D. M. A., PEÑA-CLAROS, M., CRAVEN, D., SANTOS, B. A., SIMINSKI, A., FANTINI, A. C., RODRIGUES, A. C., HERNÁNDEZ-JARAMILLO, A., IDÁRRAGA, A., *ET AL.* (2022). Strong floristic distinctiveness across Neotropical successional forests. *Science Advances* 8, eabn1767.
- JAKOVAC, C. C., PEÑA-CLAROS, M., KUYPER, T. W. & BONGERS, F. (2015). Loss of secondary-forest resilience by land-use intensification in the Amazon. *Journal of Ecology* **103**, 67–77.
- \*JOHNSTONE, J. F., ALLEN, C. D., FRANKLIN, J. F., FRELICH, L. E., HARVEY, B. J., HIGUERA, P. E., MACK, M. C., MEENTEMEYER, R. K., METZ, M. R., PERRY, G. L., SCHOENNAGEL, T. & TURNER, M. G. (2016). Changing disturbance regimes, ecological memory, and forest resilience. *Frontiers in Ecology* and the Environment 14, 369–378.
- JUNQUEIRA, A. B., SHEPARD, G. H. JR. & CLEMENT, C. R. (2010). Secondary forests on anthropogenic soils in Brazilian Amazonia conserve agrobiodiversity. *Biodiversity* and Conservation 19, 1933–1961.
- \*KANE, D. D., GORDON, S. I., MUNAWAR, M., CHARLTON, M. N. & CULVER, D. A. (2009). The Planktonic Index of Biotic Integrity (P-IBI): an approach for assessing lake ecosystem health. *Ecological Indicators* 9, 1234–1247.
- \*KARR, J. R. & DUDLEY, D. R. (1981). Ecological perspective on water quality goals. Environmental Management 5, 55–68.
- KARR, J. R., LARSON, E. R. & CHU, E. W. (2022). Ecological integrity is both real and valuable. *Conservation Science and Practice* 4, e583.
- \*KAY, C. (1997). The condition and trend of aspen, *Populus tremuloides*, in Kootenay and Yoho National Parks: implications for ecological integrity. *Canadian Field-Naturalist* 111, 607–616.
- †KLOS, R. J., WANG, G. G., BAUERLE, W. L. & RIECK, J. R. (2009). Drought impact on forest growth and mortality in the southeast USA: an analysis using Forest Health and Monitoring data. *Ecological Applications* 19, 699–708.
- \*KOLB, B. T. E., WAGNER, M. R. & COVINGTON, W. W. (1994). Concepts of forest health. *Journal of Forestry* 92, 10–15.
- \*KOPACKOVÁ, V., LHOTÁKOVÁ, Z., OULEHLE, F. & ALBRECHTOVÁ, J. (2015). Assessing forest health via linking the geochemical properties of a soil profile with the biochemical parameters of vegetation. *International journal of Environmental Science* and *Technology* **12**, 1987–2002.

License

- \*KUEHNE, L. M., OLDEN, J. D., STRECKER, A. L., LAWLER, J. J. & THEOBALD, D. M. (2017). Past, present, and future of ecological integrity assessment for fresh waters. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* **15**, 197–205.
- †LADIN, Z. S., HIGGINS, C. D., SCHMIT, J. P., SANDERS, G., JOHNSON, M. J., WEED, A. S., MARSHALL, M. R., CAMPBELL, J. P., COMISKEY, J. A. & SHRIVER, W. G. (2016). Using regional bird community dynamics to evaluate ecological integrity within national parks. *Ecosphere* 7, e01464.
- \*†LAPAIX, R., FREEDMAN, B. & PATRIQUIN, D. (2009). Ground vegetation as an indicator of ecological integrity. *Environmental Reviews* 17, 249–265.
- \*LAUSCH, A., BORG, E., BUMBERGER, J., DIETRICH, P., HEURICH, M., HUTH, A., JUNG, A., KLENKE, R., KNAPP, S., MOLLENHAUER, H., PAASCHE, H., PAULHEIM, H., PAUSE, M., SCHWEITZER, C., SCHMULIUS, C., ET AL. (2018). Understanding forest health with remote sensing, Part III: requirements for a scalable multi-source forest health monitoring network based on data science approaches. *Remote Sensing* **10**, 1120.
- \*†LAUSCH, A., ERASMI, S., KING, D., MAGDON, P. & HEURICH, M. (2016). Understanding forest health with remote sensing - Part I—a review of spectral traits, processes and remote-sensing characteristics. *Remote Sensing* 8, 1029.
- \*LAUSCH, A., ERASMI, S., KING, D., MAGDON, P. & HEURICH, M. (2017). Understanding forest health with remote sensing-Part II—a review of approaches and data models. *Remote Sensing* 9, 129.
- LETCHER, S. G. & CHAZDON, R. L. (2009). Rapid recovey of biomass, species richness and species composition in a forest chronosequence in Northeastern Costa Rica. *Biotropica* 41(5), 608–617.
- †LIAO, C., YUE, Y., WANG, K., FENSHOLT, R., TONG, X. & BRANDT, M. (2018). Ecological restoration enhances ecosystem health in the karst regions of southwest China. *Ecological Indicators* **90**, 416–425.
- †LIIRA, J., SEPP, T. & PARREST, O. (2007). The forest structure and ecosystem quality in conditions of anthropogenic disturbance along productivity gradient. *Forest Ecology* and Management 250, 34–46.
- †LIU, S., ZHAO, Q., WEN, M., DENG, L., DONG, S. & WANG, C. (2013). Assessing the impact of hydroelectric project construction on the ecological integrity of the Nuozhadu Nature Reserve, southwest China. *Stochastic Environmental Research and Risk Assessment* 27, 1709–1718.
- LONDE, V., TURINI FARAH, F., RIBEIRO RODRIGUES, R. & ROBERTO MARTINS, F. (2020). Reference and comparison values for ecological indicators in assessing restoration areas in the Atlantic Forest. *Ecological Indicators* 110, 105928.
- †LONGO, M., KNOX, R. G., LEVINE, N. M., ALVES, L. F., BONAL, D., CAMARGO, P. B., FITZJARRALD, D. R., HAYEK, M. N., RESTREPO-COUPE, N., SALESKA, S. R., DA SILVA, R., STARK, S. C., TAPAJÓS, R. P., WIEDEMANN, K. T., ZHANG, K., *ET AL* (2018). Ecosystem heterogeneity and diversity mitigate Amazon forest resilience to frequent extreme droughts. *New Phytologist* 219, 914–931.
- †LUCAS, C. M., SHEIKH, P., GAGNON, P. R. & MCGRATH, D. G. (2016). How livestock and flooding mediate the ecological integrity of working forests in Amazon River floodplains. *Ecological Applications* 26, 190–202.
- †LYVER, P. O. B., TIMOTI, P., JONES, C. J., RICHARDSON, S. J., TAHI, B. L. & GREENHALGH, S. (2017). An indigenous community-based monitoring system for assessing forest health in New Zealand. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 26, 3183–3212.
- MARIN-SPIOTTA, E., OSTERTAG, R. & SILVER, W. L. (2007). Long-term patterns in tropical reforestation: plant community composition and aboveground biomass accumulation. *Ecological Applications* 17, 828–839.
- MATOS, F. A. R., MAGNAGO, L. F. S., MIRANDA, C. A. C., DE MENEZES, L. F. T., GASTAUER, M., SAFAR, N. V. H., SCHAEFER, C. E. G. R., DA SILVA, M. P., SIMONELLI, M., EDWARDS, F. A., MARTINS, S. V., MEIRA-NETO, J. A. A. & EDWARDS, D. P. (2020). Secondary forest fragments offer important carbon and biodiversity cobenefits. *Global Change Biology* 26, 509–522.
- <sup>†</sup>MCMULLIN, R. T., URE, D., SMITH, M., CLAPP, H. & WIERSMA, Y. F. (2017). Ten years of monitoring air quality and ecological integrity using field-identifiable lichens at Kejimkujik National Park and National Historic Site in Nova Scotia, Canada. *Ecological Indicators* 81, 214–221.
- †MEDEIROS, H. R., BOCHIO, G. M., RIBEIRO, M. C., TOREZAN, J. M. & DOS ANJOS, L. (2015). Combining plant and bird data increases the accuracy of an Index of Biotic Integrity to assess conservation levels of tropical forest fragments. *Journal for Nature Conservation* 25, 1–7.
- †MEDEIROS, H. R. & TOREZAN, J. M. (2013). Evaluating the ecological integrity of Atlantic forest remnants by using rapid ecological assessment. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 185, 4373–4382.
- †MENG, J., LI, S., WANG, W., LIU, Q., XIE, S. & MA, W. (2016). Mapping forest health using spectral and textural information extracted from SPOT-5 satellite images. *Remote Sensing* 8, 719.
- <sup>†</sup>MENG, Y., CAO, B., DONG, C. & DONG, X. (2019). Mount Taishan Forest ecosystem health assessment based on forest inventory data. *Forests* **10**, 1–14.
- †MENG, Y., LIU, X., DING, C., XU, B., ZHOU, G. & ZHU, L. (2020). Analysis of ecological resilience to evaluate the inherent maintenance capacity of a forest ecosystem using a dense Landsat time series. *Ecological Informatics* 57, 101064.

- MESQUITA, R. C. G., ICKES, K., GANADE, G. & WILLIAMSON, G. B. (2001). Alternative successional pathways in the Amazon Basin. *Journal of Ecology* 89, 528–537.
- MESQUITA, R. D. C. G., MASSOCA, P. E. D. S., JAKOVAC, C. C., BENTOS, T. V. & WILLIAMSON, G. B. (2015). Amazon rain forest succession: stochasticity or landuse legacy? *BioScience* 65, 849–861.
- <sup>†</sup>MICHEZ, A., PIÉGAY, H., TOROMANOFF, F., BROGNA, D., BONNET, S., LEJEUNE, P. & CLAESSENS, H. (2013). LiDAR derived ecological integrity indicators for riparian zones: application to the Houille river in Southern Belgium/Northern France. *Ecological Indicators* **34**, 627–640.
- MICHON, G., DE FORESTA, H., LEVANG, P. & VERDEAUX, F. (2007). Domestic forests: a new paradigm for integrating local communities' forestry into tropical forest science. *Ecology and Society* 12, 1.
- \*MILLAR, C. I. & STEPHENSON, N. L. (2015). Temperate forest health in an era of emerging megadisturbance. *Science* 349, 823–826.
- MILLENNIUM ECOSYSTEM ASSESSMENT (2005). Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Biodiversity Synthesis. Word Resources Institute, Washington.
- †MISUREC, J., KOPACKOVÁ, V., LHOTAKOVA, Z., HANUS, J., WEYERMANN, J., ENTCHEVA-CAMPBELL, P. & ALBRECHTOVA, J. (2012). Utilization of hyperspectral image optical indices to assess the Norway spruce forest health status. *Journal of Applied Remote Sensing* 6, 063545.
- †MORA, F. (2017). Nation-wide indicators of ecological integrity in Mexico: the status of mammalian apex-predators and their habitat. *Ecological Indicators* 82, 94–105.
- †MORA, F. (2019). The use of ecological integrity indicators within the natural capital index framework: the ecological and economic value of the remnant natural capital of México. *Journal for Nature Conservation* 47, 77–92.
- \*MOREL, A. C. & NOGUÉ, S. (2019). Combining contemporary and paleoecological perspectives for estimating forest resilience. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change* 2, 57.
- NORDEN, N., ANGARITA, H. A., BONGERS, F., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M., GRANZOW-DE LA CERDA, I., VAN BREUGEL, M., LEBRIJA-TREJOS, E., MEAVE, J. A., VANDERMEER, J., WILLIAMSON, G. B., FINEGAN, B., MESQUITA, R. & CHAZDON, R. L. (2015). Successional dynamics in Neotropical forests are as uncertain as they are predictable. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112, 8013–8018.
- \*O'BRIEN, A., TOWNSEND, K., HALE, R., SHARLEY, D. & PETTIGROVE, V. (2016). How is ecosystem health defined and measured? A critical review of freshwater and estuarine studies. *Ecological Indicators* 69, 722–729.
- †O'LAUGHLIN, J. & COOK, P. (2003). Inventory-based forest health indicators: implications for national forest management. *Journal of Forestry* **101**, 11–17.
- PAN, Y., BIRDSEY, R. A., FANG, J., HOUGHTON, R., KAUPPI, P. E., KURZ, W. A., PHILLIPS, O. L., SHVIDENKO, A., LEWIS, S. L., CANADELL, J. G., CIAIS, P., JACKSON, R. B., PACALA, S. W., MCGUIRE, A. D., PIAO, S., *ET AL*. (2007). A large and persistent carbon sink in the World's forests. *Science* 333, 988–993.
- PAN, Y., BIRDSEY, R. A., FANG, J., HOUGHTON, R., KAUPPI, P. E., KURZ, W. A., PHILLIPS, O. L., SHVIDENKO, A., LEWIS, S. L., CANADELL, J. G., CIAIS, P., JACKSON, R. B., PACALA, S. W., MCGUIRE, A. D., PIAO, S., *ET AL*. (2011). A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. *Science* 333, 988–993.
- \*PARRISH, J. D., BRAUN, D. P. & UNNASCH, R. S. (2003). Are we conserving what we say we are? Measuring ecological integrity within protected areas. *BioScience* 53, 851–860.
- PEÑA-CLAROS, M. (2003). Changes in forest structure and species composition during secondary forest succession in the Bolivian Amazon. *Biotropica* 35, 450–461.
- †PENG, J., LIU, Y., LI, T. & WU, J. (2017). Regional ecosystem health response to rural land use change: a case study in Lijiang City, China. *Ecological Indicators* 72, 399–410.
- PÉREZ-CÁRDENAS, N., MORA, F., ARREOLA-VILLA, F., ARROVO-RODRÍGUEZ, V., BALVANERA, P., FLORES-CASAS, R., NAVARRETE-PACHECO, A. & ORTEGA-HUERTA, M. A. (2021). Effects of landscape composition and site land-use intensity on secondary succession in a tropical dry forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* 482, 118818.
- †PERLES, S. J., WAGNER, T., IRWIN, B. J., MANNING, D. R., CALLAHAN, K. K. & MARSHALL, M. R. (2014). Evaluation of a regional monitoring program's statistical power to detect temporal trends in forest health indicators. *Environmental Management* 54, 641–655.
- \*PERZ, S. G., MUÑOZ-CARPENA, R., KIKER, G. & HOLT, R. D. (2013). Evaluating ecological resilience with global sensitivity and uncertainty analysis. *Ecological Modelling* 263, 174–186.
- PICKETT, S. T. A., COLLINS, S. L. & ARMESTO, J. J. (1987). A hierarchical consideration of succession. Vegetatio 69, 109–114.
- PINHO, B. X., MELO, F. P. L., ARROYO-RODRÍGUEZ, V., PIERCE, S., LOHBECK, M. & TABARELLI, M. (2018). Soil-mediated filtering organizes tree assemblages in regenerating tropical forests. *Journal of Ecology* **106**, 137–147.
- POORTER, L., BONGERS, F., AIDE, T. M., ALMEYDA ZAMBRANO, A. M., BALVANERA, P., BECKNELL, J. M., BOUKILI, V., BRANCALION, P. H. S., BROADBENT, E. N., CHAZDON, R. L., CRAVEN, D., DE ALMEIDA-CORTEZ, J. S., CABRAL, G. A. L., DE JONG, B. H. J., DENSLOW, J. S., *ET AL.* (2016). Biomass resilience of Neotropical secondary forests. *Nature* 530, 1–15.

- POORTER, L., CRAVEN, D., JAKOVAC, C. C., VAN DER SANDE, M. T., AMISSAH, L., BONGERS, F., CHAZDON, R. L., FARRIOR, C. E., KAMBACH, S., MEAVE, J. A., MUÑOZ, R., NORDEN, N., RÜGER, N., VAN BREUGEL, M., ALMEYDA ZAMBRANO, A. M., *ET AL.* (2021). Multidimensional tropical forest recovery. *Science* 374, 1370–1376.
- POWERS, J. S. & MARÍN-SPIOTTA, E. (2017). Ecosystem processes and biogeochemical cycles in secondary tropical forest succession. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 48, 497–519.
- PRACH, K., DURIGAN, G., FENNESSY, S., OVERBECK, G. E., TOREZAN, J. M. & MURPHY, S. D. (2019). A primer on choosing goals and indicators to evaluate ecological restoration success. *Restoration Ecology* 27, 917–923.
- †RANDOLPH, K. C. (2013). Development history and bibliography of the US Forest Service crown-condition indicator for forest health monitoring. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 185, 4977–4993.
- \*RAPPORT, D. J. (1989). What constitutes ecosystem health? Perspectives in Biology and Medicine 33, 120–132.
- \*RAPPORT, D. J., COSTANZA, R. & MCMICHAEL, A. J. (1998). Assessing ecosystem health. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **13**, 397–402.
- †REMPEL, R. S., NAYLOR, B. J., ELKIE, P. C., BAKER, J., CHURCHER, J. & GLUCK, M. J. (2016). An indicator system to assess ecological integrity of managed forests. *Ecological Indicators* **60**, 860–869.
- \*REYER, C. P. O., BROUWERS, N., RAMMIG, A., BROOK, B. W., EPILA, J., GRANT, R. F., HOLMGREN, M., LANGERWISCH, F., LEUZINGER, S., LUCHT, W., MEDLYN, B., PFEIFER, M., STEINKAMP, J., VANDERWEL, M. C., VERBEECK, H., *ET AL.* (2015). Forest resilience and tipping points at different spatio-temporal scales: approaches and challenges. *Journal of Ecology* 103, 5–15.
- \*†REZA, M. I. H. & ABDULLAH, S. A. (2011). Regional Index of Ecological Integrity: a need for sustainable management of natural resources. *Ecological Indicators* 11, 220–229.
- REZENDE, G. M. & VIEIRA, D. L. M. (2019). Forest restoration in southern Amazonia: soil preparation triggers natural regeneration. *Forest Ecology and Management* 433, 93–104.
- ROBIGLIO, V. & SINCLAIR, F. (2011). Maintaining the conservation value of shifting cultivation landscapes requires spatially explicit interventions. *Environmental Management* 48, 289–306.
- \*ROCHE, P. K. & CAMPAGNE, C. S. (2017). From ecosystem integrity to ecosystem condition: a continuity of concepts supporting different aspects of ecosystem sustainability. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 29, 63–68.
- \*ROMBOUTS, I., BEAUGRAND, G., ARTIGAS, L. F., DAUVIN, J.-C., GEVAERT, F., GOBERVILLE, E., KOPP, D., LEFEBVRE, S., LUCZAK, C., SPILMONT, N., TRAVERS-TROLET, M., VILLANUEVA, M. C. & KIRBY, R. R. (2013). Evaluating marine ecosystem health: case studies of indicators using direct observations and modelling methods. *Ecological Indicators* 24, 353–365.
- ROZENDAAL, D. M. A., BONGERS, F., AIDE, T. M., ALVAREZ-DÁVILA, E., ASCARRUNZ, N., BALVANERA, P., BECKNELL, J. M., BENTOS, T. V., BRANCALION, P. H. S., CABRAL, G. A. L., CALVO-RODRIGUEZ, S., CHAVE, J., CÉSAR, R. G., CHAZDON, R. L., CONDIT, R., *et al.* (2019). Biodiversity recovery of Neotropical secondary forests. *Science Advances* 5, eaau3114.
- †SANDERS, S. & GROCHOWSKI, J. (2014). Alternative metrics for evaluating forest integrity and assessing change at four Northern-tier U.S. National Parks. *The American Midland Naturalist* 171, 185–203.
- \*SASAKI, T., FURUKAWA, T., IWASAKI, Y., SETO, M. & MORI, A. S. (2015). Perspectives for ecosystem management based on ecosystem resilience and ecological thresholds against multiple and stochastic disturbances. *Ecological Indicators* 57, 395–408.
- \*SCHEFFER, M., CARPENTER, S. R., DAKOS, V. & VAN NES, E. H. (2015). Generic indicators of ecological resilience: inferring the chance of a critical transition. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 46, 145–167.
- †SHARMA, A. & GOYAL, M. K. (2018). Assessment of ecosystem resilience to hydroclimatic disturbances in India. *Global Change Biology* 24, e432–e441.
- \*SOUZA, G. B. G. & VIANNA, M. (2020). Fish-based indices for assessing ecological quality and biotic integrity in transitional waters: a systematic review. *Ecological Indicators* 109, 105665.
- †SOWIŃSKA-ŚWIERKOSZ, B. (2017). Application of surrogate measures of ecological quality assessment: the introduction of the Indicator of Ecological Landscape Quality (IELQ). *Ecological Indicators* 73, 224–234.
- †STEVENS-RUMANN, C. S., KEMP, K. B., HIGUERA, P. E., HARVEY, B. J., ROTHER, M. T., DONATO, D. C., MORGAN, P. & VEBLEN, T. T. (2018). Evidence for declining forest resilience to wildfires under climate change. *Ecology Letters* 21, 243–252.
- †STOLTE, K. W. (2001). Forest health monitoring and forest inventory analysis programs monitor climate change effects in forest ecosystems. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal* 7, 1297–1316.
- †STYERS, D. M., CHAPPELKA, A. H., MARZEN, L. J. & SOMERS, G. L. (2010a). Developing a land-cover classification to select indicators of forest ecosystem health in a rapidly urbanizing landscape. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 94, 158–165.

- †STYERS, D. M., CHAPPELKA, A. H., MARZEN, L. J. & SOMERS, G. L. (2010b). Scale matters: indicators of ecological health along the urban-rural interface near Columbus, Georgia. *Ecological Indicators* 10, 224–233.
- STYGER, E., RAKOTONDRAMASY, H. M., PFEFFER, M. J., FERNANDES, E. C. M. & BATES, D. M. (2007). Influence of slash-and-burn farming practices on fallow succession and land degradation in the rainforest region of Madagascar. *Agriculture*, *Ecosystems and Environment* **119**, 257–269.
- †TALUKDAR, N. R., AHMED, R., CHOUDHURY, P. & BARBHUIYA, N. A. (2020). Assessment of forest health status using a forest fragmentation approach: a study in Patharia Hills Reserve Forest, northeast India. *Modeling Earth Systems and Environment* 6, 27–37.
- \*TETT, P., GOWEN, R. J., PAINTING, S. J., ELLIOTT, M., FORSTER, R., MILLS, D. K., BRESNAN, E., CAPUZZO, E., FERNANDES, T. F., FODEN, J., GEIDER, R. J., GILPIN, L. C., HUXHAM, M., MCQUATTERS-GOLLOP, A. L., MALCOLM, S. J., *ET AL.* (2013). Framework for understanding marine ecosystem health. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **494**, 1–27.
- †THORMANN, M. N. (2006). Lichens as indicators of forest health in Canada. Forestry Chronicle 82, 335–343.
- \*†TIERNEY, G. L., FABER-LANGENDOEN, D., MITCHELL, B. R., SHRIVER, W. G. & GIBBS, J. P. (2009). Monitoring and evaluating the ecological integrity of forest ecosystems. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 7, 308–316.
- TOLEDO, M. & SALICK, J. (2006). Secondary succession and indigenous management in semideciduous forest fallows of the Amazon basin. *Biotropica* 38, 161–170.
- \*TRUCHY, A., ANGELER, D. G., SPONSELLER, R. A., JOHNSON, R. K. & MCKIE, B. G. (2015). Linking biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and services, and ecological resilience: towards an integrative framework for improved management. *Advances in Ecological Research* 53, 55–96.
- \*TRUMBORE, S., BRANDO, P. & HARTMANN, H. (2015). Forest health and global change. Science 349, 814–818.
- †URKER, O. & ILEMIN, Y. (2019). A pioneer study on the wildlife properties of Anatolian sweetgum forests, a case assessment on mammalian diversity in terms of ecosystem integrity. *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin* 28, 5474–5480.
- VAN BREUGEL, M., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M. & BONGERS, F. (2006). Community dynamics during early secondary succession in Mexican tropical rain forests. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 22, 663–674.
- VAN DER SANDE, M. T., POWERS, J. S., KUYPER, T. W., NORDEN, N., SALGADO-NEGRET, B., ALMEIDA, J. S., BONGERS, F., DELGADO, D., DENT, D. H., DERROIRE, G., ESPIRITO SANTO, M. M., DUPUY, J. M., FERNANDES, G. W., FINEGAN, B., GAVITO, M. E., *ET AL.* (2023). Soil resistance and recovery during Neotropical forest succession. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological sciences* 378, 20210074.
- VIEIRA, D. L. M., RODRIGUES, S. B., JAKOVAC, C. C., DA ROCHA, G. P. E., REIS, F. & BORGES, A. (2021). Active restoration initiates high quality forest succession in a deforested landscape in Amazonia. *Forests* 12, 1022.
- VIEIRA, I., GARDNER, T., FERREIRA, J., LEES, A. & BARLOW, J. (2014). Challenges of governing second-growth forests: a case study from the Brazilian Amazonian State of Pará. *Forests* 5, 1737–1752.
- \*VORA, R. S. (1997). Developing programs to monitor ecosystem health and effectiveness of management practices on Lakes States National Forests, USA. *Biological Conservation* 80, 289–302.
- †WANG, N. & BAO, Y. (2011). Modeling forest quality at stand level: a case study of loess plateau in China. Forest Policy and Economics 13, 488–495.
- \*WILCOX, D. A., MEEKER, J. E., HUDSON, P. L., ARMITAGE, B. J., BLACK, M. G. & UZARSKI, D. G. (2002). Hydrologic variability and the application of Index of Biotic Integrity metrics to wetlands: a great lakes evaluation. *Wetlands* 22, 588–615.
- <sup>†</sup>WOODALL, C. W., AMACHER, M. C., BECHTOLD, W. A., COULSTON, J. W., JOVAN, S., PERRY, C. H., RANDOLPH, K. C., SCHULZ, B. K., SMITH, G. C., TKACZ, B. & WILL-WOLF, S. (2011). Status and future of the forest health indicators program of the USA. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* **177**, 419–436.
- <sup>†</sup>WOODALL, C. W., GRAMBSCH, P. L., THOMAS, W. & MOSER, W. K. (2005). Survival analysis for a large-scale forest health issue: Missouri oak decline. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* **108**, 295–307.
- <sup>†</sup>WOODALL, C. W., MORIN, R. S., STEINMAN, J. R. & PERRY, C. H. (2010). Comparing evaluations of forest health based on aerial surveys and field inventories: oak forests in the Northern United States. *Ecological Indicators* 10, 713–718.
- †WU, J. & LIANG, S. (2020). Assessing terrestrial ecosystem resilience using satellite leaf area index. *Remote Sensing* 12, 595.
- <sup>†</sup>WU, L., WEIBIN, Y., ZHIRONG, J., SHIHONG, X. & DONGJIN, H. (2018). Ecosystem health assessment of Dongshan Island based on its ability to provide ecological services that regulate heavy rainfall. *Ecological Indicators* **84**, 393–403.
- WURTZEBACH, Z. & SCHULTZ, C. (2016). Measuring ecological integrity: history, practical applications, and research opportunities. *BioScience* 66, 446–457.
- \*XU, F. L., JØRGENSEN, S. E. & TAO, S. (1999). Ecological indicators for assessing freshwater ecosystem health. *Ecological Modelling* 116, 77–106.

Biological Reviews 98 (2023) 662-676 © 2022 Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- \*XULU, S., GEBRESLASIE, M. T. & PEERBHAY, K. Y. (2019). Remote sensing of forest health and vitality: a South African perspective. Southern Forests: A Journal of Forest Science 81, 91–102.
- \*YANG, H., SHAO, X. & WU, M. (2019). A review on ecosystem health research: a visualization based on CiteSpace. Sustainability 11, 4908.
- †ZARNOCH, S. J., BECHTOLD, W. A. & STOLTE, K. W. (2004). Using crown condition variables as indicators of forest health. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 34, 1057–1070.
- †ZHAO, J., WANG, R., LUO, P., XING, L. & SUN, T. (2017). Visual ecology: exploring the relationships between ecological quality and aesthetic preference. *Landscape and Ecological Engineering* 13, 107–118.

## IX. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

**Table S1.** List of 41 references obtained from search #1 in *Web of Science*, using search terms associated with the concept of ecological integrity, and the additional six references sourced from citations within these references.

**Table S2.** List of 72 references obtained from search #2 in *Web of Science*, using search terms related to indicators used to evaluate ecological integrity.

**Table S3.** Information associated with indicators used to evaluate ecological integrity (EI) that was taken from the papers selected from search #2.

**Table S4.** Indices used to assess overall ecological integrity of forests.

**Table S5.** List of indicator metrics used in assessments of ecological integrity.

**Appendix S1.** Excel spreadsheet with the full database from search #2 (raw data).

**Appendix S2.** Excel spreadsheet with full list of indicators and evaluation criteria and their associations with ecosystem services.

(Received 6 January 2022; revised 15 November 2022; accepted 17 November 2022; published online 1 December 2022)